1977

Dorothy Black v. Robert L. McKnight : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This Appeal raises the issue whether a new trial should be granted to a party (appellant) who was rear-ended in a motor vehicle collision by the respondent's motor vehicle and the Trial Court failed to submit to the jury appellant's two principal theories as to the cause of the collision, which were fully substantiated by both direct and circumstantial evidence.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A trial was held before the Honorable G. Hal Taylor, District Judge of the Third Judicial District, sitting with a jury on the 2nd, 3rd and 4th days of June, 1976. A general verdict was returned by the jury finding in favor of the respondent and against the appellant on June 4, 1976. On June 14, 1976, appellant moved for a new trial on the basis of the Trial Court's failure to instruct the jury on appellant's two principal theories of the case. Appellant's motion for a new trial was denied by the

Honorable G. Hal Taylor on July 19, 1976. Thereafter, on August 9, 1976, appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant respectfully requests this Court to grant appellant a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 5, 1970, at approximately 12:30 a.m., on U.S. Highway 91 in Davis County, state of Utah, a collision occurred between a vehicle driven by the respondent and a vehicle driven by the appellant. (T.3) Visibility was clear and the road conditions were dry. (T. 5) Appellant was traveling en route from Brigham City with her now deceased sister as a passenger, south on Highway 91, in the outside lane of the highway. (T. 4, 6) About a quarter of a mile past the Kaysville elevators appellant noticed a vehicle with flashing red and white lights parked off to the side of the highway in the holding lane. (T. 6) Appellant believed that the vehicle in the holding lane was a patrol car because of the flashing white and red lights. (T. 6) Appellant was traveling approximately 60 miles per hour at this point in time. (T. 6) Traffic at that time of night, on the date of the collision, was moderate. (T. 7) At the time of the collision, Highway 91 was divided by a white dividing stripe separating the southbound and northbound

of traffic. (T. 7) There were two lanes for both southbound and northbound traffic. (T. 7)

After appellant noticed the highway patrol car parked off to the side of Highway 91 in a holding lane, (said patrol car was parked in a southerly direction on the same side of the highway as appellant was traveling) appellant noticed two horses walking from the inside lane of traffic to the outside lane of the two southerly lanes of travel on Highway 91. (T. 8) When the horses were approximately in front of appellant's vehicle, appellant slowed down and glanced in her rear view mirror. (T. 8). Appellant saw no lights behind her vehicle at this time. (T. 8) Appellant then signaled a left turn from the outside lane to the inside lane in order not to collide with the horses and to allow them to proceed across the highway. (T. 8)

After the horses had proceeded across the highway, appellant signaled for a right turn from the inside lane to the outside lane of travel. (T. 9) After appellant had signaled, and had entered the outside lane of travel, she consulted her rear view mirror and saw headlights bearing down on her vehicle from the rear. (T.9)

Appellant's vehicle then was struck in the left rear section by respondent's vehicle. (T. 10) The impact of the collision was so violent that it caused appellant's vehicle to flip

over several times causing serious and permanent personal injuries to plaintiff.

It was defendant-respondant's contention at trial that the collision actually occurred in the inside southbound lane of Highway 91 on the night of the collision, which contention was tacitly supported by the eye witness testimony of the police officer whose car was parked in the holding lane next to the highway and who witnessed intermittent movements of the appellant and respondant's vehicles prior to the collision. (T. 24, 61, 62)

Respondant admitted under cross examination that he was on the fourth week of working the swing shift at Hill Air Force Base as a production control specialist. (T. 68, 69, 70).

Respondant also admitted under cross examination that the swing shift commenced at 3:30 p.m. and continued until 12:00 p.m. at night. (T. 70) Respondant testified that he observed a vehicle parked in the holding lane, that he noticed white tail lights in the back of the car. (T. 62, 72). Respondant estimated that his speed prior to the collision was between 60 and 65 miles per hour. (T. 73) It was respondant's testimony that he was attempting to overtake appellant's vehicle which was traveling south in the outside lane of travel when appellant's vehicle made an abrupt turn and swerved into respondant's lane of travel. (T. 62) Respondant contended that prior to this abrupt turn appellant gave no manual or mechanical turn signal. (T. 63)

At the conclusion of trial, the Trial Court submitted all of respondent's principal theories as to the cause of the collision with appellant's vehicle in its Instruction No. 13 to the jury. The Trial Court, however, did not submit all of appellant's principal theories as to the cause of the collision. It was appellant's contention that respondent's vehicle was following appellant's vehicle more closely than was reasonable and prudent under the then existing circumstances, and that respondent's vehicle was traveling at a rate of speed greater than was necessary to avoid colliding with appellant's vehicle.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURTS FAILURE TO SUBMIT APPELLANT'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS NO.'S 12 (d) AND 13, WHICH WERE BASED UPON SECTION 41-6-62 (a), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, TO THE JURY WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Appellant assigns as error the trial courts failure to submit to the jury appellant's proposed instructions No.'s 12 (d) and 13, which were predicated upon Section 41-6-62 (a), Utah Code Annotated.

UTAH CODE ANN., Section 41-6-62 (a) (1954), provides:

(a) The driver of a motor vehicle shall not follow another vehicle more closely than is reasonable and prudent, having due regard for the speed of such vehicle and the traffic upon and the condition of the highway....

Appellant submits that there was abundant, direct and substantial evidence illicited at trial sufficient to compel the trial court to submit to the jury the issue embodied in Section 41-6-62(a) and incorporated in the appellant's proposed jury Instructions No.'s 12(d) and 13.

Appellant proffered the following direct

Q. "O.K. now, why don't you pick up when you noticed the police car and tell us what happened?"

A. O.K. Then as we proceeded down there two horses we noticed coming in front of us.

Q. Now, were they large horses, Mrs. Black?

A. Yes. One seemed taller than the other because one was light and one was dark. And this is what made it stand out. First I saw the light horse.

Q. How did you happen to notice that there were horses?

A. Well, I had my lights on high.

Q. And why was that?

A. Because -- well, there wasn't that much traffic. And of course whenever there was a car we would dim, but there wasn't enough traffic on the north bound freeway to really be a problem. So I was driving with my lights on high.

Q. So the horses were travelling from the inside lane to the outside lane; is that correct?

A. Right, going across.

Q. Were they running or were they walking?

A. They were walking. And they were just about in front of us proceeding on the -- on across, so as I saw them I slowed down and glanced in my rear view mirror. I didn't see any light behind me. I signaled a left turn and moved out around. And of course the horses proceeded on across.

I signaled a right turn and backed in and almost at this time when I glanced up I saw the lights bearing down.

Q. Now, Mrs. Black, when you were in the inside lane, I believe you said you signaled to make a right hand turn to go back into the right hand lane?

A. Right.

Q. And I believe you said you consulted your rear view mirror. Did you have a side view mirror on your vehicle?

A. Yes. I have a side.

Q. Did you use that?

A. No.

Q. Why was that?

A. I am not really secure with the side. I mean I don't feel that this can see all that you need to. And of course the time involved I just glanced up in the rear view mirror and proceeded to make my turn.

Q. Now, when you were in the outside lane originally and you made your left hand turn to the inside lane, did you ever see any headlights? Did you ever see any vehicle behind you?

A. No, sir, not at any time.

Q. And after you were in the inside lane and the horses had passed you and you then signaled to go in the outside lane, did you ever notice any headlights in the mirror?

A. After I proceeded around in this manner in coming back in, and as I looked up I saw headlights bearing down.

Q. O.K.

A. From the rear.

Q. What happened next, Mrs. Black?

A. Well, we were struck on the left, or the left side.

Q. So his right front struck your car?

A. Struck the left.

Q. Left rear of your car?

A. Right." (T. 8, 9, 10)

Appellant submits the fact that the respondent's vehicle collided with the rear end of appellant's vehicle is uncontroverted. (See Exhibit 2-p, 3-p, 4-p, 5-p, 6-p, and 7-p) In addition, respondent's own direct testimony was as follows:

Q. "Then what happened?

A. We collided.

Q. And what portion of your car with what portion of hers?

A. Well, I'd judge about 14 to 18 inches of the front right bumper on my car hit approximately maybe the same area on the left rear bumper of her car." (T. 63)

Appellant contends that the direct testimony of the appellant and the uncontroverted fact that appellant was rear-ended by

respondant's vehicle was sufficient evidence to compel the trial court to submit appellant's proposed jury instructions No.'s 12(d) and 13, which were predicated upon Section 41-6-62(a), Utah Code Annotated. The Jury should have been required to decide whether the respondant was following appellant's motor vehicle more closely than was reasonable and prudent under the existing circumstances, and failure by the trial court to do so, constituted prejudicial error.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO SUBMIT APPELLANT'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 14 WHICH WAS PREDICATED UPON 41-6-46(a), Utah Code Annotated, WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Appellant assigns as error the trial court's failure to submit proposed instruction No. 14 which was predicated upon Utah Code Ann. Section 41-6-46(a) (1954) to the jury. Utah Code Ann. Section 41-6-46(a) (1954), provides:

No person shall drive a vehicle on a highway at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing. In every event speed shall be so controlled as may be necessary to avoid colliding with any person, vehicle, or other conveyance on or entering the highway in compliance with legal requirements and the duty of all persons to use due care.

The trial court, however, chose to give only the first sentence of Section 41-6-46(a), in its Instruction No. 19 to the jury.

Appellant submits there was no logical reason for the trial court to bifurcate the "speed" statute in its Instruction

No. 19 to the jury. Appellant contends that the second sentence of Section 41-6-46(a), Utah Code Annotated, incorporates the holding in Dalley v. Mid-Western Dairy Products Co., 80 U. 331, 15 P.2d 309 (1932).

In the Dalley case this court said:

In this jurisdiction the doctrine is established that it is negligence as a matter of law for a person to drive an automobile upon a travelled public highway, used by vehicles and pedestrians (sic) at such a rate of speed that said automobile cannot be stopped within the distance at which the operator of said car is able to see objects upon the highway in front of him. 8 U. at 336; 15 P.2d at 310.

Also, in O'Brien v. Alston, 61 Utah 368, 213 P. 791 (1923), this Court quoted from Serfus v. Lehi, etc., Ry. Co., 270 Utah 306, 113 A. 370, the following:

[I]t is the duty of a chauffer traveling by night to have such a headlight as is will enable him to see in advance the face of the highway and to discover grade crossings, or other obstacles in his path, in time for his own safety, and to keep such control of his car as will enable him to stop and avoid obstructions that fall within his vision. (emphasis added.)

The net effect of the second sentence of Utah Code Annotated Section 41-6-46(a), is to add the additional speed requirement that "speed shall be so controlled as may be necessary to avoid colliding with any person, vehicle, or other conveyance, on or entering the highway...." which is in conformity with the

Dalley and O'Brien cases.

Appellant agrees for the sake of this issue on appeal, that respondent was traveling between 60 miles per hour and 65 miles per hour immediately prior to the accident which is in conformity with respondent's testimony proffered at trial. (See T. 62) Appellant likewise concedes that the posted maximum speed limit along highway 91 on the date of the collision was 70 miles per hour. Therefore, Appellant submits that with these facts taken into consideration, in addition to the facts that it was late at night on a relatively deserted highway; an extremely hazardous situation existed on an unlighted highway; a Utah Highway patrol car stopped off to the side of the highway in a holding lane; its red lights flashing for all passing motorists to observe; that respondent was, if he had been at all observant, forewarned that there was a potentially hazardous situation existing on that particular portion of the highway at that particular time which should have caused him to slow and become acutely aware of the danger. It was proper for the trial court to submit sentence No. 1 of Section 41-6-46 (a), Utah Code Annotated, to the jury in light of respondent's resultant collision with the rear end of appellant's motor vehicle.

However, a critical part of that statute is likewise directed to the exact type of circumstance that occurred

in this case. It was appellant's theory that respondent did not properly or reasonably control his speed under the existing conditions so as to avoid colliding with the appellant's vehicle while he was upon the highway on the night of the collision. This was true, notwithstanding the fact that respondent's vehicle was argueably traveling at less than the lawful speed limit at the time of the collision.

Appellant suggests to this Honorable court that it ~~was not~~ only error for the trial court to refuse to instruct the jury on the second sentence of Section 41-6-46(a), Utah Code Ann., in this case, but that in light of the uncontroverted fact that respondent collided with the rear end of appellant's vehicle (an eventuality which is precisely dealt with in the second sentence of Section 41-6-46(a), Utah Code Ann., and which is an eventuality that suggests negligence on behalf of an offending motorist) and appellant's theory that the collision was proximately caused by respondent's failure to heed an officer's warning, (flashing red and white lights) and thereafter to fail to so control his speed, so as to avoid this type of collision, that it deprived the jury of appellant's principal theory of respondent's negligence which was amply supported by direct and circumstantial testimony and uncontroverted facts which should require this court to grant appellant's motion for a new trial.