1977

Dorothy Black v. Robert L. McKnight : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This litigation arises out of an automobile accident occurring on March 5, 1970 on U. S. Highway 91, Davis County, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Jury trial was held on June 2 to June 4, 1976 inclusive, resulting in a verdict of No Cause for Action.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant has recited facts based almost entirely on her own testimony and completely ignores the testimony of the Defendant, as well as the Highway Patrol officer, who was an eye-witness to the accident.

We therefore recite the facts.

The Defendant had completed his shift at Hill Air Force Base at approximately midnight March 5, 1970, and was driving his car alone south to his home in Salt Lake City. Traffic was light and after rounding a curve in the highway, he noticed the tail-lights of the Plaintiff's vehicle in the outside lane, some considerable distance ahead. He also noticed that a car was stopped on the west shoulder, on holding lane, with its backup lights on.

He noticed that he was gaining on the car ahead and therefore moved into the inside lane when he was approximately 8/10ths of a mile from where the stopped car was (T-62). His speed was about 60 to 65, and the speed limit was 70 m.p.h. (T-62).

When he was approximately 300 to 400 yards away he recognized the stopped car as a Highway Patrol car, but its red flasher signals were not on. He continued on, overtaking the vehicle in the right lane, and when he was in a position, with the front of his car near the rear of the Plaintiff's vehicle (T-62), the Plaintiff's car suddenly swerved in front of him. There was no signal of any kind, either blinker or hand signal (T-62-63).

The Defendant swerved to his left and applied brakes but the impact immediately occurred wherein the right front of the Defendant's vehicle struck the left rear of the Plaintiff's vehicle (T-63).

Officer Spadevechia had previously been driving south on the highway when he saw 2 horses standing in the emergency lane (T-23). He stopped and backed up to them, putting on his rear flasher lights, but he did not turn on his overhead revolving red lights, as he did not want to "spook" the horses (T-29). He stopped approximately 3 to 5 feet south of the 2 horses (T-32). The horses remained standing in the emergency lane while he radioed for assistance (T-32).

He had seen the lights of the Plaintiff's vehicle approaching. The horses never got on either of the travel lanes (T-32). As he turned to face forward, he states that the Plaintiff's vehicle made a turn to the inside lane, approximately where the

horses were (T-33) and immediately thereafter an accident occurred shortly ahead of the police vehicle.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

41-6-62 (a) IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE. AND THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED INSTRUCTIONS BASED THEREON.

There was absolutely no evidence, from any witness, that the Defendant was "following" the Plaintiff, by which term, of course, has reference to following cars, which are directly behind cars ahead and in the same lane, in which situation the following car must keep a reasonable distance between the vehicles.

Facts of the case at bar have to do with two vehicles, each in a different lane, with the rear vehicle overtaking and intending to pass the slower moving vehicle.

The Statute certainly has nothing to do with a fact situation, as here, where the jury had overwhelming evidence that established that the Plaintiff, without a signal of any kind, suddenly swerved from her outside lane to the inside lane, directly into the path of the Defendant, whose car was so close, that an accident immediately happened.

Fairbourn v. Lloyd (1968) 21 Ut.2d 62, 440 P.2d 257 discusses the above Statute in a factual situation where, in fact, the Defendant was following the Plaintiff's car, when a collision occurred as a result of Defendant's failure to see the Plaintiff stop, due to slush on the windshield.

Even in that case, the Supreme Court held it was a jury question as to whether Defendant was negligent, and a verdict for

Defendant was upheld.

Appellant's Requested Instructions on the cited statute, therefore, were clearly erroneous as applying the law as it applies to entirely different facts than were present here.

The Honorable Trial Court was clearly correct in its ruling denying the requests.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTION 12 FULLY COVERED THE LANGUAGE OF 41-6-46 (1).

The Court's Instruction No. 12 to the jury advised them that it was the Defendant's duty (a) to keep a proper lookout; (b) to keep his vehicle under reasonably safe control; (c) to drive at such a speed as was reasonable and prudent under the circumstances; (d) to sound a horn if circumstances required it.

Appellant complains that a jury should have been further instructed that "in every event" motorists are required to drive at such a speed that accidents will be avoided.

Again, Appellant is citing cases in her Brief which embody entirely different factual situations than the facts of the case at bar.

In Dalley v. Midwestern Dairy Products, 80 Ut. 331, 15 P.2d 309 (1932) a truck was parked encroaching upon the travel portion of the highway, and of course, this Court upheld the doctrine that motorists must drive, in the nighttime, at such a speed that they can stop or avoid objects on the highway ahead which are illuminated by the headlights.

In O'Brien v. Alston, 61 Ut. 368, 213 P. 791 (1923), and the case cited therein in Appellant's Brief, again was based on facts clearly unimportant to the case at bar.

In this case, the defendant, Mr. McLaughlin did not need

his headlights to see the Plaintiff's vehicle. He had seen her taillights when he was practically a mile away. After he moved into the inside lane and was then in the process of overtaking and intending to pass the Plaintiff, on Plaintiff's left, with no obstacles or vehicles ahead, the holdings in the Dalley and O'Brien cases simply are inapplicable.

We do not have, here, a case where the Defendant failed to see an object, or obstruction in the highway ahead. He, in fact, saw everything that was there to be seen, excepting the presence of the horses on the shoulder of the road, but even had he seen the horses, standing on the shoulder of the road, and not obstructing either lane of travel, as testified to by the Highway Patrol officer, he would have been justified in continuing on, as he did.

There is nothing in the law that requires a passing motorist to stop "on a dime", when the driver of the car being passed suddenly and unexpectedly swerves into his lane at a time when it is impossible for the passing motorist to stop, swerve, or otherwise avoid an accident.

POINT THREE

THE JURY VERDICT, CONSIDERED IN THE LIGHT FAVORABLE TO THE DEFENDANT, SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

This Honorable Court, in a myriad of cases, has repeatedly announced that the jury verdict will be upheld where justified by the evidence considered in a light most favorable to the prevailing party. For example:

Utah 1964. Supreme Court was required to view evidence in light most favorable to the verdict winner.--Taylor v. Johnson, 393 P.2d 382, 15 Utah 2d 343, appeal after remand 414 P.2d 575, 18 Utah 2d 16.

Utah 1964. Evidence and all reasonable inferences that could be drawn therefrom were to be viewed in light most

favorable to jury's findings.--Gordon v. Provo City,
391 P.2d 430, 15 Utah 2d 287.

When trial court has given approval to determination by jury by refusing to grant new trial, judgment should be looked upon with some degree of verity, presumption is in favor of its validity, and burden is upon appellant to show some persuasive reason for upsetting it.--Id.

Utah 1963. Facts must be viewed in light most favorable to party who prevails below.--Ortega v. Thomas,
383 P.2d 406, 14 Utah 2d 296.

Utah 1963. On appeal of defendant, evidence must be viewed in light most favorable to plaintiff.--Powers v. Taylor, 379 P.2d 380, 14 Utah 2d 152.

The investigating officer, who was also an eye-witness, testified directly contrary to the testimony of the Plaintiff. The Defendant also substantiated the version of the accident testified to by Defendant.

The Plaintiff's version that the horses were walking on the travel portion of the highway was refuted by both the officer and the Defendant. The Plaintiff's statement that she signaled before changing lanes was refuted both by the Defendant and the investigating officer. In addition, the Plaintiff admitted she had never seen the lights of the Defendant's vehicle before she changed lanes, but quite surprisingly, saw the lights immediately before the impact. She never looked in her outside rear-view mirror before making the lane change.

Indeed the evidence of the Plaintiff's contributory negligence was, in fact, overwhelming, and the verdict of the jury should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

L. F. MIDDLEY
374 East 2nd South, #206
Salt Lake City, Utah
Attorney for Respondent